# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR JAMES MARTIN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC12-1762

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of twelve volumes. Volumes I through VII contains the clerk's records and trial exhibits. These volumes will be reference with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page numbers. Transcripts of the trial proceedings are contained in volumes VIII through XII will be referenced with the prefix "T." Page numbering for the transcripts begins anew with pages one through 827. A copy of the sentencing order is attached to this brief as an appendix, referenced "App."

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

# Procedural Progress Of The Case

On January 7, 2010, a Duval County grand jury returned an indictment charging Arthur Martin with first degree murder for the shooting death of Javon Daniels on October 28, 2009. (R1:187-189) Martin pleaded not guilty and the State filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty on January 12, 2010. (R1:197; R7:1108) The case proceeded to a jury trial beginning on March 26, 2012. (T8:1-T12:827) On March 28,2012, the jury found Martin guilty as charged of first degree premeditated murder. (R4:740;T11:638-639) At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9 to 3. (R4:753; T12:819) The State and the defense submitted sentencing memoranda, and the court held a Spencer hearing on May 8, 2012. (R5:812,821; R7:1253-1265)

On August 3, 2012, Circuit Judge Linda F. McCallum adjudged Martin guilty of first degree murder and sentenced him to death. (R5: 839; R7:1270-1273) In the sentencing order (R5:844-862) (App.), the court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) Martin had a previous conviction for a violent felony based on convictions in 2001, for second degree murder, armed robbery and burglary with an assault; (2) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel; and (3) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner. (R5:847-853) Mitigation the court found included: (1) Martin's age of 40 as a statutory mitigator based on

evidence of his emotional immaturity. (R5:854-855) Several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances were addressed in the sentencing order:

- (2) Martin is functionally illiterate (slight weight).
- (3) Martin has a learning disability (slight weight).
- (4) Martin has low cognitive functioning with an IQ in the lower two percent of the population (some weight).
- (5) Martin in poor health suffering asthma, diabetes and sleep apnea (slight weight).
- (6) Martin is a loving and caring son (slight weight).
- (7) Martin was a hard worker (slight weight).
- (8) Martin was generous with others (slight weight).
- (9) Martin was reverent and served in his church (slight weight).
- (10) Martin is a loving and caring brother (slight weight).
- (11) Martin ability to work was thwarted by his poor health (slight weight).
- (12) During Martin's childhood, his parents consumed alcohol excessively and fought frequently (some weight).
- (13) Martin was respectful to the judge and court officers (very slight weight).
- (14) Martin's sentence disproportionate due to the disparate sentence to his codefendant who pled to second degree murder (not proven).
- (15) The jury recommendation of 9 to 3 was not a unanimous for a

death recommendation (not mitigating).

- (16) Martin had problems controlling his temper (slight weight).
- (17) Martin was attacked by other children when he was in school (slight weight).

(R5:854-860)

Martin filed his notice of appeal to this Court on August 16, 2012. (R5:866)

## The State's Case

Around 6:00 in the evening on October 28, 2009, Officer Gary Tompkins responded to report of a shooting in northwest Jacksonville. (T9:279-280) Tompkins found a white, SUV type vehicle with a male showing no life signs in the passenger side of the vehicle. (T9:281-282) Other officers arrived, and a crowd of people had gathered in the area. (T9:282) There were expended cartridge casings around the vehicle, and Tompkins used crime scene tape to establish a perimeter around the potential evidence. (T9:284)

Allison Crumley was visiting her uncle on October 28, 2009. (T9:266-267) She was 14 or 15 years old at the time. (T9:272) Her uncle lived in Weber Apartments on 22d Street. (T9:266-267) She was present when a shooting occurred outside. (T9:267-268) When she first heard gunshots, she looked outside through the living room window and saw the shooting. (T9:268) Crumley heard eight shots. (T9:268) A black male was shooting at an SUV vehicle parked on the

grass area in front of the apartments. (T9:269) She described the man she saw shooting as tallish and heavyset. (T9:269) He had a large belly protruding over his pants. (T9:270) His hair was cut low, and he wore a white tank top and cargo pants. (T9:270) While shooting, the man was within a couple of feet of the vehicle. (T9:271) Crumley did not see the man's face. (T9:275) Crumley's uncle told her to get down away from the window. (T9:271) Later, when a police officer showed her photographs and asked if she could identify anyone, Crumley pointed out one photograph of someone who "looked something like the guy" she had seen shooting. (T9:273-274, 298-305)

Lauren Burns saw the shooting as it occurred in front of her apartment. (T9:306-307) She was sitting on the staircase watching her children play outside. (T3:307-308) There was a gray SUV and a white car parked in front of the apartments. (T9:308) A man approached the gray SUV, that Burns called a Jeep, and he started shooting at the man sitting in the SUV. (T9:308-310) The shooter had a handgun with a long cartridge clip. (T9:309) Burns saw the shooter fire into the driver's side of the SUV first, and then he moved to the passenger side and continued firing. (T9:310) The shooter then left the scene. (T9:310) When detectives asked her to look at photographs of possible suspects, Burns picked Martin. (T9:298-305, 310) She also identified Martin in court. (T9:308, 317-318, 321-322)

Sebastian Lucas was with his sister-in-law and his girlfriend at the front of the apartments when he witnessed the shooting. (T9:328-329, 334) When Lucas arrived from work, a white Crown Victoria was parked in the area. (T9:334) The Toyota SUV arrived about 30 minutes to a hour later. (T9:335) Lucas saw three people in the SUV. (T9:335-336) The person in the passenger seat got out and starting walking and talking to a number of people who were outside. (T9:336, 339) He spoke to a man named Corey Davis who was talking to the two people in the white car. (T3:336-339) One was standing outside he car, and he was heavyset with a low haircut. The conversation was brief and a normal conversation. (T9:338)(T9:338-339) Later, Lucas heard someone say, "He's got a gun." (T9:340) Lucas then saw the heavyset black male walk from the Crown Victoria to the SUV and shoot into the driver's side of the SUV with a black handgun with an extended cartridge clip. (T9:331) As the shooting victim tried to get out through the passenger side, the shooter walked to the passenger side and continued shooting. (T9:331) The backseat passenger in the SUV escaped out the back when the shooting first started. (T9:336) After the shooting, the shooter went to the Crown Victoria, and he and the driver left. (T9:331) Lucas identified Martin from a photographs detectives showed him. (T9:298-305, 332, 340-341) He described the shooter as medium to short, heavyset, low haircut and a beard. (T9:330, 340-342) The man wore a white shirt and shorts. (T9:343) Lucas saw the

man's face when he walked passed him twice going to, and returning from the store before the shooting. (T9:341) He noted that he had never seen him previously. (T9:341) Sometime after the shooting, he learned the man was called "Shorty Fat." (T9:342)

Ronnie McCrimage lived in a house across the street from the apartments where the shooting occurred. (T9:346-347) He heard gunshots, looked out his window and saw a man shooting into an SUV. (T9:347) A Crown Victoria was parked near the SUV. (T9:347) McCrimage had not previously seen either car. (T9:348) McCrimage did not see the shooter's face because his back was toward him. (T9:348, 351, 353) The man had a round shape and probably weighed between 200 and 300 pounds. (T9:348) Although McCrimage signed a photograph of Martin for the detective, he did so only after pressure to do so from the detective. (T9:298-305, 354)

Tasheana Hart lived at Weber Apartments at the time of the shooting. (T9:392-293) She was acquainted with a man through her family who was know by the name "Beer Belly." (T9:393, 406-407) On the day of the shooting, she saw a white SUV pull up in front of the apartments, and then a white Mercury Grand Marquis pulled in behind it. (T9:394, 398-399) After a time, "Beer Belly" shot the man in the SUV, Tasheana knew as J.P. (T9:394) On that day, he had a beard. (T9:395) A few days later, Tashenia saw "Beer Belly" and he was clean shaven. (T9:395,411) He offered Tasheana money not to talk about the shooting. (T9:395,408-409) She identified a

photograph of Martin as the shooter. (T9:298-305, 395-396, 412-414)

Martin's co-defendant in this case, Franklin Batie, pled guilty to second degree murder, and he testified against Martin. (T9:355, 358) Batie went to college with Martin's nephew, and he occasionally socialized with Martin and his nephew. (T9:356-357) A few days before October 28, 2009, Batie was shot, a bullet grazed the back of his head. (T9:358-359, 371-372) He did not see the person who shot him, but he heard rumors and received a name of the possible shooter. (T9:359) At some point before October 28, Batie told Martin that he had been shot, however he did not mention the name of the suspected shooter. (T9:359) On October 28, Batie drove his white Crown Victoria to Martin's house. (T9:360) Martin asked Batie for a ride to see someone named Black Jack at an apartment complex on 22<sup>nd</sup> Street. (T9:361) Batie agreed, and they arrived at the apartments sometime in the afternoon. (T9:361) Batie parked on a side road near a grassy area. (T9:362) While Martin got out of the car to talk to Black Jack, Batie stayed in his car. (T9:362) Another vehicle, Batie described as a little white truck, pulled up in the area. (T9:362) A passenger in that vehicle got out and walked up to a crowd of people gathered at the apartments. (T9:363) Batie saw that one of men who stayed in the vehicle was the person whom he had heard was responsible for shooting him earlier. (T9:364) Batie pulled his gun from the back seat, chambered a round in the weapon and held the gun in his lap. (T9:364) He then placed the gun on the front passenger seat of his car. (T9:364) His gun was a .45 caliber ACP Masterpiece handgun with an extended thirty round clip. (T9:357) When Martin returned, Batie told him the driver of the white truck was the person who had shot at him. (T9:364) Martin picked up Batie's gun, walked to the truck and started shooting. (T9:365-366) Batie pulled his car up to Martin and told him to get in the car. (T9:365-367) Martin got in the car, and Batie drove away. (T9:367-368) Batie told Martin to keep the gun, and he drove Martin home. (T9:368,379, 385)

The medical examiner, Dr. Valerie Rao, performed the autopsy on Javon Daniels. (T10:461, 466) Blood tests revealed Daniels had a small amount of hydrocodone in his system. (T10:467) Daniels sustained 12 gunshot wounds. (T10:466) There were wounds to the left and right hands and the left and right arms, breaking both of them. (T10:468, 472-474) Additional wounds were present on the right flank and right thigh. (T10:471-472) A group of gunshots entered the left side and chest area. (T10: 469-471, 476-477, 481-) Additionally, there were wounds from shattered glass. (T10:471-473) Four of the gunshot wounds were fatal. (T10:476-477, 481-483) One wound went through both lungs, a second penetrated the liver, a third went into the stomach and lung, and a fourth went through the heart and aorta. (T10:476-477) Daniels would have suffered rapid blood loss rendering him unconscious before causing his death. (T10:475-478)

Diane Espie, a crime scene detective, testified about the photographing and collection of evidence from the scene. (T10:420) Several photographs of the vehicle where the victim died and the surrounding area were introduced at trial. (T10:424-436)Additionally, items of evidence were collected. (T10:436-441) Around the area of the vehicle, thirteen .45 caliber expended cartridge casings were collected. (T10:437-439) Seven bullet projectiles or projectile fragments were recovered from the area and the vehicle. (T10:440-441) One projectile was found on the street, a second on the rear passenger seat, a third from inside the victim's pants leg, a fourth from the top of the driver's door, and a fifth from inside the driver's door itself. (T10:440-441) Bullet fragments were found under the passenger seat and the passenger floorboard. (T10:440-441)

Maria Pagan, an FDLE firearms expert, performed a comparison analysis of the bullets and cartridge casings. (T10:449-461) No firearm was recovered. (T10:456) She determined that the 13 cartridge casings were all fired from the same firearm. (T10:451-455) Examination of the four bullet projectiles was inconclusive. (T10:455) Even though the bullets showed some similarity in markings, these were insufficient to draw any conclusion about whether they were fired from the same firearm. (T10:455-456) The bullets did have similar barrel markings from a gun with six grooves with a right twist. (T10:456) Pagan said that an ACP

Masterpiece firearm is consistent since it is included in the class of firearms with six grooves with a right twist. (T10:456-457)

Penalty Phase And Sentencing

The penalty phase commenced on April 2, 2012. (T12:662) Pursuant to a stipulation, the State introduced photographs, a time line from the Department of Corrections, and judgements for prior crimes. (T12: 662-663) (R4:758-797) (State Exhibits 1-5) Martin's prior convictions included convictions in Miami in 2001, for second degree murder, robbery and burglary for which he received ten years in prison. (R4:774-779) Two victim impact witnesses, Daniels' great aunt and cousin, read prepared statements. (T12:689, 692) The Defense presented Martin's mother and sister as witnesses about Martin's life with them. (T12: 694, 752) Dr. Stephen Bloomfield, a psychologist, testified about his assessment of Martin. (T12:709)

Dr. Stephen Bloomfield, a psychologist, evaluated Martin and found his intellectual functioning to be in the bottom two percent of the population his age, placing him in the mildly retarded range. (T12:719-747) Due to lost school records and insufficient information about Martin's ability to function outside of a prison or institutional setting, Bloomfield could not complete a diagnosis of mental retardation. (T12:723-727) There were no records to establish a mental retardation diagnosis before the age of eighteen. (T12:723-725)

Bloomfield used the latest Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale,

Fourth Edition (WAIS-IV), as his testing instrument. (T12:722) The instrument consists of a number of subtests, and Martin scored from 55 to no higher than 69 on any of the subtests. (T12:730,742-743)[Dr. Bloomfield's written report provides the complete scoring of the test and concludes Martin has a full-scale IQ of 54. (R5:802-Martin's school records had been destroyed, 809)1 Because Bloomfield was unable to find any IQ testing performed before Martin was eighteen, and consequently, Bloomfield could not determine if Martin was diagnosed as mentally retarded before age eighteen. (T12:723-725) Department of Corrections records for Martin's prior incarcerations did have a number of IQ screening test scores. (T12:734-736) These screens are not diagnostic instruments and are used for determining placement and adaptability to the prison environment. (T12:735-736) Where the WAIS-IV has 12 to 14 subtests, these screen may have three or four. (T12:728, 734-738) Martin's scores on all but two of these screening tests were below an IQ range of 70. (T12:727) [Dr. Bloomfield's written report noted some of these IQ screening scores: 58, 63, 64, 94 and 71. (R5:802-809)]

The adaptive functioning portion of the mental retardation evaluation could not be completed for lack of information. (T12:726-727) However, Bloomfield did learn through an interview with Martin's mother, that Martin had been in special education programs when in school in Miami. (T12:723,725) Bloomfield

concluded that Martin is functionally illiterate (T12: 729) Martin spent his adult life on SSI due to disability. (T12:731) Martin reported a significant history of alcohol and drug abuse, but Bloomfield ruled out alcohol and drugs as a contributor to Martin's low functioning. (T12:733-734) Martin did complete a substance abuse class in prison at the Tier One level. (R5:808) Although time spent incarcerated is not relevant to determining the adaptive functioning evaluation, the prison's assessment of Martin's ability to adapt in prison was fairly low. (T12:740-741)

Iomia Sikes, Martin's mother, testified. (T12:694) Martin and sister were her only children, and they have a good his relationship. (T12: 700, 706-707) Martin grew up in Miami and went to school in Liberty City. (T12:701) She said he was a good child, helped her around the house. (T12:696) Martin was slow mentally and never learned to read well. (T12:698) Other children picked on him in school, they would beat him up, and one time, they glued his mouth shut. (T12:695) Sikes was proud that Martin completed a plumbing class in the jobs program at school, and he received a Liberty City Vertical school certificate for working at Blinds.(T12:701) He liked to work when he could, and once worked at a hotel in maintenance. (T12:697) Martin's physical problems keep him from working. (T12:696-697) He suffers from diabetes, severe asthma and sleep problems. (T12:696-697) When Martin had money, he always helped his mother pay the bills. (T12:698) Martin does not bother anyone and spends time watching television in his room. (T12:699) If someone picks on him, he does have a temper problem. (T12:699) He asks his mother to tell the person to just leave him alone. (T12:699) Sikes also testified about Martin's certificate he received when he was saved and baptized in 1995. (T12:702-703) She said Martin was reverent, and he was a deacon in the church. (T12:704)

Martin's older sister, Jaclyn Martin, testified about their relationship. (T12:752) She said she basically raised him because she kept him while their mother worked. (T12:753) Their mother and father drank too much and fought. (T12:756) Once, they almost drove the whole family into a canal. (T12:756) Jaclyn said Martin is a good person. (T12:754) Because of his health, he could no longer work. (T12:754) He used to do "pipe work." (T12:754) He could not read or write. (T12:757) Martin now just stays home, eats, sleeps and watches TV. (T12:754) When Martin had money, he was generous, and he gave his mother money. (T12:755) Sometimes, Martin loses his temper, but Jaclyn said she could talk to him and help him with it. (T12:758)

In rebuttal, the State presented Detective Chris Stros who interviewed Martin regarding his case in Miami. (T12:748) Stros said Martin was able to read aloud the <u>Miranda</u> warnings. (T12:749-751)

On May 8, 2012, the court held a Spencer hearing. (R7:1253-

1266) No additional testimony was presented. (R7:1253-1266) The trial court had for consideration the sentencing memoranda that had been previously filed ((R5:812,821), the Pre-sentence Investigation Report(PSI), Dr. Bloomfield's psychological evaluation that had been previously presented to the court (R5:802; T12:676-677) and incorporated by reference in the PSI. (R7:1253) Included in the PSI and the psychological evaluation was Martin's report of his abuse of drugs and alcohol and his arrests on drug charges in 1990, 1996. (R5:806-807) Defense counsel argued against the finding of the aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated and premeditated and especially heinous, atrocious or cruel. (R7:1258-1259)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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