TGEGKXGF.'81814235'39-65-54.'Vj qo cu'F 0J cm'Engtm'Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ARTHUR JAMES MARTIN

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-1762

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0708399

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 Primary E-Mail: capapp@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

a trial judge does not make "improper factual findings" when there is competent substantial evidence to support the finding.

As to the trial judge's consideration of Martin's low intellectual functioning as a non-statutory mitigator, the trial judge also committed no error. In the defendant's sentencing memorandum, Martin suggested the trial court find the Defendant has low cognitive functioning. Martin suggested that he had borderline IQ and that his IQ is in the lowest 2%. (TR Vol. V 818).

In her sentencing order, the trial judge found, as a nonstatutory mitigator, that the defendant had low cognitive In particular, the trial judge noted that "Dr. functioning. Bloomfield testified that Defendant has low cognitive Dr. Bloomfield stated that the Defendant's IQ functioning. falls in the lower 2%, meaning that ninety-eight to ninety-nine percent of the people his age have higher IQs. Dr. Bloomfield opined that the Defendant's most significant mitigation issue is his low cognitive functioning. This Court finds this mitigating circumstance was proven and gives it some weight in determining the appropriate sentence to be imposed." (TR Vol. V 855-856).

The trial court found exactly what the Defendant requested and gave this mitigator more weight than she assigned any other mitigator apart from one other mitigator; the defendant's childhood that was plagued by his parents' drinking and frequent

fighting, to which she assigned the same weight. (TR Vol. V 818, 858). Additionally, none of the trial judge's observations, in the discussion of the mitigator, including the 94 IQ on the WAIS was inaccurate. Instead, the findings were supported by the evidence in the record. (TR Vol. V 808; TR Vol. XII 734).¹²

Second, to the extent that Martin challenges the weight given to the Defendant's low IQ, the weight given to a mitigator is within the sole discretion of the trial court. The weight assigned to a mitigator will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. <u>Patrick v. State</u>, 104 So.3d 1046, 1066 (Fla. 2012) (observing that as with the weight assigned aggravating factors, the weight assigned mitigation is within the sole discretion of the trial court); <u>Oyola v. State</u>, 99 So.3d 431, 445 (Fla. 2012) (noting that weight a trial court assigns to a mitigator is within its discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.).

In his initial brief, Martin has not offered any support, except in conclusory terms, why the trial judge abused her discretion or was required to give Martin's low intellectual

¹² Even if the judge had made a factual error in noting the 94 IQ score, any error would be harmless because Dr. Bloomfield did not diagnose Martin with mental retardation. Moreover, the trial judge pointed to Dr. Bloomfield's testimony that Martin's IQ is in the bottom 2%. <u>Merck v. State</u>, 975 So.2d 1054, 1066 (Fla. 2007).

functioning more weight than she did. As pointed out above, the trial court gave Martin's low intellectual functioning more weight than any other mitigator, save for one, to which she assigned the same "some weight". Martin has made no showing the trial judge abused her discretion. <u>Hampton v. State</u>, 103 So.3d 98 (Fla. 2012).

Even if the trial judge should have afforded the mitigator more weight, any error is harmless. The trial judge found that Martin had low cognitive functioning and noted Dr. Bloomfield's testimony that Martin's IQ was in the bottom 2%. Nonetheless, the trial court found the quality of Martin's mitigation "pales in comparison to the enormity of the aggravating circumstances in this case." (TR Vol. V 861). Further, considering the aggravating factors found to exist, including CCP and a prior violent felony premised on a prior second degree murder, and the slight weight or very slight weight given to all but one of the remaining mitigating factors, there is no reasonable probability that the defendant's low IQ would be assigned weight sufficient outcome counterbalance the significant to alter the or aggravation found by the trial court. As such, any error in assigning only some weight to the defendant's low IQ is Hampton v. State, 103 So.3d 98, 117-118 (Fla. 2012). harmless. This Court should reject Martin's first claim on appeal.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONSIDER, FIND AND WEIGH AS A MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT MARTIN HAD A HISTORY OF DRUG AND ALCOHOL ABUSE

In this claim, Martin alleges the trial judge erred in failing to find that Martin had a history of drug and alcohol abuse.¹³ Martin avers that Dr. Bloomfield's report and the PSI supported this mitigator. This Court should find no error.

In order to challenge the failure to find a non-statutory mitigator, the defendant must raise the proposed nonstatutory mitigating circumstance before the trial court. <u>Ault v. State</u>, 53 So.3d 175 (Fla. 2010); <u>Davis v. State</u>, 2 So.3d 952, 962-63 (Fla. 2008). In his sentencing memorandum, Martin did not ask the trial court to find, in non-statutory mitigation, that he had a history of alcohol and drug abuse. (TR Vol. V 817-819).¹⁴ Failure to ask the trial judge to weigh and consider his history of drug and alcohol abuse means the trial judge committed no error in failing to address it. Ault v. State, 53 So.3d at 191.

¹³ The remedy for any harmful error is not a new penalty phase but instead a new sentencing order. Of course, it is the State's position there is no error at all, let alone harmful error.

¹⁴ Martin asked the trial court to consider that the defendant's childhood was plagued by excess alcohol drinking and fighting of his parents. Martin was not referring to his history of alcohol and drug abuse but his sister's testimony that both of their parents drank heavily and fought a lot. (TR Vol. XII 756).

Even if the trial judge erred in failing to find a nonstatutory mitigator not suggested by Martin, any error is harmless. Martin acknowledges there is no evidence that he was under the influence of drugs and alcohol at the time of the murder. (IB 23). Additionally, the aggravation was strong. Among the aggravators were CCP and a prior violent felony, in particular, a second degree murder conviction for which Martin was released from prison only months before the instant murder. Moreover, Martin's mitigation evidence was far from compelling. Even if this non-statutory mitigation had been considered, the mitigation evidence would not have outweighed the aggravators. As such, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Orme v. State, 25 So.3d 536, 543-544 (Fla. 2009); Bates v. State, 750 So.2d 6 (Fla. 1999).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE MURDER WAS COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED AND ESPECIALLY HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL

In this claim, Martin alleges the trial court improperly found the murder was cold calculated and premeditated (CCP) and that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC). The State will take each allegation of error in turn.

A. Did the trial court err in finding the murder was CCP?

The cold, calculated and cruel (CCP) aggravator pertains specifically to the state of mind, intent, and motivation of the
defendant. <u>Wright v. State</u>, 19 So.3d 277, 298 (Fla. 2009). It is the State's burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act of emotional frenzy or panic, or a fit of rage. <u>Walker</u> <u>v. State</u>, 957 So.2d 560, 581 (Fla. 2007). A trial court's determination of whether CCP is present in a case is based upon the totality of the circumstances. <u>Hudson v. State</u>, 992 So.2d 96 (Fla. 2008).

CCP applies when four elements are present: (1) the killing must have been the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage (cold); (2) the defendant must have had a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident (calculated); (3) the defendant must have exhibited heightened premeditation (premeditated); and (4) there must have been no pretense of moral or legal justification. <u>Baker v. State</u>, 71 So.3d 802, 818-819 (Fla. 2011). This Court has explained what each of the elements means.

First, the murder must have been "cold," in the sense that the killing was "the product of cool and calm reflection and not an act prompted by emotional frenzy, panic, or a fit of rage." The "cold" element "generally has been found wanting only for 'heated' murders of passion, in which the loss of emotional control is evident from the facts. Execution-style killing is

by its very nature a cold crime. <u>Baker v. State</u>, 71 So.3d 802, 819 (Fla. 2011). *See also <u>Durocher v. State</u>*, 596 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 1992) (affirming the trial court's finding of CCP where only a few minutes passed between the defendant's decision to merely rob the store and his decision to shoot the clerk.

murder must have been calculated. Second, the Тο be calculated the defendant must have a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder before the fatal incident. The calculated element applies in cases where the defendant arms himself in advance, kills execution-style, plans his actions, and has time to coldly and calmly decide to kill. Wright, 19 So.3d at 299. Proof there was weeks, days, hours, or many minutes of planning or prearranged design is not a necessary element of the calculated element of CCP. A plan to kill may be demonstrated by the defendant's actions and the circumstances surrounding the murder even when there is evidence that the final decision to kill was not made until shortly before the murder itself. <u>Baker v. State</u>, 71 So.3d at 819. See also Durocher v. State, 596 So.2d 997 (Fla. 1992).

Third, the circumstances of the crime must indicate that the defendant killed the victim with heightened premeditation. This Court has explained that heightened premeditation exists when the defendant has the opportunity to leave the crime scene but

instead commits the murder. <u>Owen v. State</u>, 862 So.2d 687, 701 (Fla. 2003). *See also* Russ v. State, 73 So.3d 178 (Fla. 2011).¹⁵

Legally sufficient evidence exists to support a trial court's finding on CCP where the defendant procures a weapon in advance, receives no provocation or resistance from the victim, and carries out the killing as a matter of course. <u>McGirth v.</u> <u>State</u>, 48 So.3d 777 (Fla. 2010). In this case, there is legally sufficient evidence to support the CCP aggravator.

Javon Daniels did nothing to Martin. There was absolutely no provocation on Daniels' part. Nonetheless, Martin grabbed a gun from Franklin Batie's car, walked over to where Daniels was sitting in his car, shot him multiple times, execution style at point blank range. When Daniels attempted to escape out the passenger side, Martin simply walked around and fired more rounds into the passenger side of Daniels' car. Twice, Martin could have left the crime scene and left the victim alive. Twice, Martin chose instead, without any evidence of rage, emotional frenzy or panic, to gun down a man, execution style.

Martin does not seem to deny that the murder was execution style, without provocation, and without panic, rage or emotional frenzy. Instead, Martin claims that his intellectual

¹⁵ Martin does not contest that there is no evidence establishing a pretense of moral or legal justification for these murders. Wright v. State, 19 So.3d 277 (Fla. 2009).

deficiencies preclude a finding of the CCP aggravator. (IB 28). This Court has consistently, and explicitly, held that a defendant can be emotionally and mentally disturbed or suffer from a mental illness and still have the ability to experience cool and calm reflection, make a careful plan or prearranged design to commit murder, and exhibit heightened premeditation. <u>Kophso v. State</u>, 84 So.3d 204 (Fla. 2012). There is competent, substantial evidence to support the CCP aggravator and this Court should affirm.

B. Did the trial court err in finding the murder was HAC?

This Court normally does not uphold a trial judge's finding of HAC in a shooting death. This is so because a gunshot death is generally instantaneous. <u>Heyne v. State</u>, 88 So.3d 113, 123 (Fla. 2012). But this Court has, on many occasions, upheld HAC, where it is manifestly clear that the victim suffered pain and experienced fear and terror at the hands of a lawless killer. This is true even when the victim has suffered only a few seconds. <u>Francis v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 110, 135 (Fla. 2001) (noting that this Court has upheld a finding of HAC where the medical examiner has determined that the victim was conscious for merely seconds).

In determining whether the victim experienced such fear, the trial court views the circumstances "from the unique perspective of the victim," Banks v. State, 700 So.2d 363, 367 (Fla. 1997),

and "in accordance with a common-sense inference from the circumstances." <u>Allred v. State</u>, 55 So.3d 1267, 1280 (Fla. 2010). "[F]ear, emotional strain, and terror of the victim during the events leading up to the murder may make an otherwise quick death especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel." <u>Lynch v.</u> State, 841 So.2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003).¹⁶

In this case, the medical examiner, Dr. Rao, testified that Mr. Daniels' four fatal wounds would not have caused instantaneous death. According to Dr. Rao, there would be a period of survival in which Mr. Daniels would try to shield himself from the bullets. (TR Vol. V 477). The wounds would be painful until he lost consciousness. (TR Vol. X 477).

There is no need to speculate in this case whether Mr. Daniels lost consciousness immediately. He didn't.

Dr. Rao testified that a bullet wound to Daniels' hand was consistent with a defensive wound. (TR Vol. 485-487).

¹⁶ In his initial brief, the defendant acknowledges the victim's hands and arms were rendered useless because of bullet wounds to his arms and hand. The defendant claims these wounds were the product of random gunfire and there is no indication these were inflicted as a means of tormenting the victim. (IB 32). First, the pictures of the gunshots into the car (fairly tight shot group) show the defendant's assault was anything but "random gunfire." Second, it is well established that when considering the HAC aggravator, the focus is on the means and manner of the death (suffering of the victim) and not the defendant's state of mind of the defendant. <u>Oyola v. State</u>, 99 So.3d 431 (Fla. 2012).

Additionally, the evidence showed the victim survived the initial onslaught and desperately tried to escape. Mr. Daniels' terror and desperation were manifest in the evidence showing that Mr. Daniels, wounded and bleeding profusely, knocked out the passenger side window because three bullets had already fractured both of his arms and one of his hands, making it impossible to escape out the passenger side door. (TR Vol. X 473, 475 486). Given the totality of the circumstances and the evidence that Mr. Daniels, who was only 19 years old at the time of his death, suffered fear and terror right up to the moment of his death, there is competent substantial evidence the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Lynch v. State, 841 So.2d 362, 369 (Fla. 2003). See also Allred v. State, 55 So.3d 1267, 1280 (Fla. 2010) (noting that we have held the perception of imminent death need only last seconds for the HAC aggravator to apply).¹⁷

It is true that in cases decided in the past such as the ones cited by Appellant as well as cases such as <u>Diaz v. State</u>, 860 So.2d 960 (Fla. 2003) (citing cases) and <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1310 (Fla. 1993), this Court has declined to find HAC in shooting deaths even when there was evidence the victim survived for a time and pleaded for his life. However, this Court's more recent jurisprudence makes clear that the focus of HAC is on the suffering of the victim rather than the killer's intent to torture. Compare <u>McGirth v. State</u>, 48 So.3d 777 (Fla. 2010) (noting that the focus of the HAC aggravator centers on the means and manner in which the death is inflicted upon the victim and the victim's perceptions of the surrounding circumstances).

Even if the trial judge erred in finding the murder was HAC, any error is harmless. Without the HAC aggravator, there is still two strong aggravators, CCP and a prior violent felony that included a second degree murder conviction for which he had been released from prison only months before he murdered Mr. Daniels. Even if this Court strikes the HAC aggravator, this Court should find any error harmless and affirm. <u>Aguirre-</u> Jarquin v. State, 9 So.3d 593, 609 (Fla. 2009).

ISSUE IV

WHETHER MARTIN'S SENTENCE TO DEATH IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER RING V. ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002)

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